
Meeting of:  Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: Thursday, 27th September, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside - Number One 
Riverside

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  MINUTES 3 - 4

To consider the minutes of the meeting Communities, Regeneration 
and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 28th June 
2018. 

5.  PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER 

Director of Neighbourhoods to report 

6.  WASTE AND ENFORCEMENT POLICIES - UPDATE 
PRESENTATION 

A presentation regarding changes to both the Council’s Waste 
Collection Policy and to its Environmental Management Enforcement 

Public Document Pack



Policy. 

7.  2017/18 WINTER SERVICE REVIEW 5 - 14

Head of Highways Services to report  

8.  HIGHWAYS-BRIDGES AND HIGHWAY STRUCTURES 
INSPECTION POLICIES 

15 - 59

Head of Highways Services to report  

Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Members
Councillor Jacqueline Beswick Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Susan Emmott Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Andy Kelly Councillor Daniel Meredith
Councillor Ann Stott JP Councillor June West
Councillor Peter Williams Councillor Peter Winkler

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 
 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 28 June 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Daniel Meredith (Chair); Councillors Beswick, Susan Emmott, 
Stott and Winkler

OFFICERS:  H. Bellis (Neighbourhoods Directorate), D. Cooke (Rochdale 
Development Agency).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Blundell (Cabinet Member for Regeneration, 
Business, Skills & Employment).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Burke, Councillor Hartley, Councillor Kelly, 
Councillor West and Councillor Peter Williams

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
1 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
2 Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting of the Communities, Regeneration 
and Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on 28th June 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.

LOCAL WELFARE PROVISION YEAR END REPORT 2017/18
3 The Committee scrutinised the performance of the Local Welfare Provision in 
2017/18.  

Members were informed that 5,014 individual items were awarded over 2017/18 from 
the Discretionary Crisis Fund (DCF), with single bed with mattress, bedding items, 
energy payments, crockery and cutlery being the most requested items for support.  
The total fund spends on DCF awards for 2017/18 was £251,541 compared with 
£267,594 for 2016/17.

Member sought clarification on the number of applications received from each Ward 
and the types of advertising undertaken to ensure those most in need where aware 
of the provision. 

Resolved: That the report be noted.

NEIGHBOURHOODS DIRECTORATE PLAN 2017/18 QUARTER 4 
PERFORMANCE UPDATE
4 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
advised of the progress at the end of Quarter 4 (1st January – 31st March 2018) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Neighbourhoods Directorate 
Plan 2017-18.  

The Committee were informed that 62% of the actions included in the Directorate 
Plan had been achieved the required target with one action not meeting the required 
target.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Members questioned the outstanding action for Junction 19, Heywood and were 
satisfied that the project would be undertaken in accordance with the Plan, despite 
the delay.

Resolved: That the Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan 2017-18 be noted.

ECONOMY DIRECTORATE PLAN 2017/18 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE
5 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy which advised 
of the progress at the end of Quarter 4 (1st January – 31st March 2018) towards 
achievement of the targets contained in the Economy Directorate Plan 2017-18.  

The Committee were informed that 40% of the actions included in the Directorate 
Plan had been achieved with the remaining actions expected to be completed on 
time.

Resolved: That the Economy Directorate Plan 2017-18 be noted.

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19
6 The Committee considered the first draft Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19 as a basis 
for development. Members were advised that amendments to the Work Programme 
would be made on an ongoing basis throughout the year to reflect current and 
forthcoming challenges to be faced by the Authority in general and this Committee in 
particular.

Members of the Committee suggested the following further items to be included 
within the Work Programme:

 Play pitch strategy
 Dog fouling
 Bulky waste policy
 Highways Investment Programme Contracts

Resolved: That the report be noted.

Page 4



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting 27th September 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Environment
Report Author Michael Aiken
Public/Private Document Public

2017/18 Winter Service Review

Executive Summary

1. The report (Appendix 1) outlines the performance of the 2017/18 winter 
service and details how the operational delivery met the objectives detailed in 
the winter service policy. 

Recommendation

2. Members note the operational performance of the 2017/18 winter service 
delivery

Reason for Recommendation

3. The report details how the operational delivery met the objectives of the 
Council’s current winter service policy and plan. 

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

The aim of the winter service is to ensure that Rochdale Borough Council 
meets the statutory obligations set out in the highways act 1980. The Act 
states that highways authorities must ensure “so far is reasonably practicable, 
that safe passage along a highway is not endangered by ice or snow.”   

The objectives of the Winter Service so far as is reasonably practicable, are to:

 Ensure the safer movement of vehicles and pedestrians on the 
highway network.

 Minimise delays, accidents and damage to the highway resulting from 
ice and snow.

 Undertake the Winter Service effectively and efficiently according to 
network hierarchy and severity of weather conditions within the 
limitations of finite resources, financial constraints and legal 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



4.2

4.3

4.4

requirements.

The winter service is jointly delivered between the Rochdale Borough Council 
(RBC) highways department and Balfour Beatty (BB) operational winter 
service staff. This group is known as the winter service workgroup. RBC 
highways are responsible for reviewing forecast information and making 
treatment decisions in line with current guidance whilst Balfour Beatty are 
responsible for operationally delivering the service on the ground. Full details 
of roles and responsibilities can be found in the Winter Service Plan. 

The winter service workgroup is also assisted by colleagues from 
Environmental Management (EM) during periods of prolonged frost or 
snowfall. During these times, EM assist with snow and ice clearance from 
town centres and footways. 

The 2017/18 winter period was one of the most severe within the last 7 years. 
There were two, one in ten year snow events in addition to prolonged periods 
of sub-freezing temperatures, gale force winds and both a regional and a 
national emergency level event known as the ‘beast from the east’.

During the winter period, RBC carried out the following treatments – 

 130 Precautionary treatments on the full network

 25 Snow treatments on the resilient network

 13 Ad – hoc treatments on individual domains

 10 Footway treatments within the  town centres

RBC used over 4000t of salt during the winter period to treat the network 
between 16th October 2017 and 15th April 2018. 

The service was severely tested towards the end of the 2017/18 season by 
two late winter storms which brought heavy snowfall and strong winds. One of 
these storms triggered a national level emergency event which was brought 
about by the closure of the M62 motorway. Road users where trapped on the 
motorway for an extended period of time and a joined community and council 
led relief effort was put in place to protect people affected.  

RBC and BB worked continually throughout this period to keep the main road 
network open and to provide a safe diversion for traffic that was being diverted 
from the M62. Achieving this meant working together with both internal 
departments and external agencies to co-ordinate the response required to 
keep the network open and inform stakeholders of conditions on the roads. 

Page 6



Costs and Budget Summary

5. The budget allocated to the 2017/18 winter service was £600k. Due to the 
severity of the winter the final cost total was £730k. The amount of overspend 
was limited by the decision taken to use treated salt over untreated. Treated 
salt can be spread at much lower quantities which reduces the amount 
needed to prevent ice from forming on the carriageway. If untreated salt was 
used the total cost would have come in at £820k 

The overspend was funded from general reserves and directly related to the 
number of treatments that had to be carried out and the additional salt that 
was required to treat the network during periods of heavy snowfall. Winter 
treatment costs are based on a contractual schedule of rates and additional 
treatments are ordered through the arrangements in place through the 
contract 

Towards the end of the winter period, RBC issued a management instruction 
to enable the highest parts of the network to be treated in isolation This halved 
the number of vehicles required to carry out a high routes treatment and 
provided a cost saving towards the end of the winter period. 

Risk and Policy Implications

No risk or policy implications arise from this report6.

Consultation

7. Not required – Report for information only 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Winter Service Policy http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-
democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/policies/place-and-environment-
policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-
policy.aspx

8.1 Winter Service Plan http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-
democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/policies/place-and-environment-
policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-
policy.aspx

For Further Information Contact: Michael Aiken, 
michael.aiken@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 7

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/policies/place-and-environment-policies/Pages/highways-winter-service-policy.aspx


Rochdale Council Winter Service Review

2017/18

Page 8



Rochdale BC Winter Service Plan 
2016 – 2017

Publication Date May 2018

Related Legislation / Applicable Section of 
Legislation

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents

Replaces

Joint Procedure (Yes/No)

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Procedure Owner (Name/Position) M Aiken – Team Leader Capital Programme 
and Delivery

Procedure Document Author 
(Name/Position)

M Aiken – Team Leader Capital Programme 
and Delivery

Review of Procedure

Last Review Date N/A

Review undertaken by

Next Review Date

Document Approvals

This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Page 9



Rochdale BC Winter Service Plan 
2016 – 2017

Contents

Document Control and Distribution

1. Summary

2. Introduction

3. Statement of Policies & Responsibilities

4. Service & Performance
  

5.    Health and Safety

6. Areas for improvement

7. Conclusion

Page 10



Rochdale Council Winter Service Review
2017/18

www.rochdale.gov.uk 1

1. Summary 

This winter period was one of the most severe within the last 7 years. There were 2 one in 
ten year snow events in addition to prolonged period of sub-freezing temperatures, gale force 
winds and both a regional and national emergency level events. 

Despite these challenges, both Rochdale Council (RBC) and Balfour Beatty (BB) managed to 
maintain the main road network to enable the free movement of people across the borough. 

The service was able to minimise the disruption caused by the severity of the weather 
through a team effort of both the management and operational teams.

2. Introduction

The purpose of this document is to consider if the 2017/18 winter service plan met all of the 
objectives contained within the winter service policy and identify any areas where 
improvements could be made for the 2018/19 winter season. 

The period this review covers is from the 16th October 2017 until the 15th April 2018

3. Statement of Policies and Responsibilities 

Rochdale Council as a highway authority has a statutory obligation under the Highways Act 
1980 to ensure, “so far is reasonably practicable, that safe passage along a highway is 
not endangered by ice or snow.”   

Responsibility for the management and implementation and of the Winter Service plan is 
shared between Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) and Balfour Beatty (BB).

Details of responsibilities are available in the winter service policy.  

The Winter Service runs for 26 weeks between 16th October 2017 and 15th of April 2018. This 
is under the instruction of RBC and can be extended if required for prolonged periods of 
inclement weather. 

Three winter service periods are defined, for planning and operational purposes only, as 
follows

Risk Risk Periods (months)

High December, January and February

Low November and March

Marginal October and April

Page 11



Rochdale Council Winter Service Review
2017/18

www.rochdale.gov.uk 2

4. Service & Performance 

4.1 Response and Treatment Times

Throughout the winter period, the response and treatment times have been compliant with 
the scope defined within the winter service policy. 

4.2 Temporary Changes to Carriageway Treatment Routes

There were three occasions where temporary changes to the defined treatment routes were 
required.  The Council had to revert to treating snow routes only as an emergency measure 
to keep the resilient network clear and Balfour Beatty provided the required resources to 
comply with the emergency measure. 

4.3 Pedestrian Footways

All treatments where carried out by Balfour Beatty in compliance with the winter service 
policy. In addition to this, Highways requested and received assistance from Environmental 
management to clear pedestrian routes in periods of heavy snowfall and prolonged freezing. 

4.3    Snow Ploughing

In periods of heavy snowfall Balfour Beatty undertook ploughing on the resilient network to 
clear snow accumulations from the carriageway. Ploughing was carried out in line with 
current driver training however on a number of occasions it appeared that the plough blades 
where not set to run on the carriageway surface which meant that ploughing was not as 
effective as it could have been. This is a recognised issue nationally and it is only recent 
improvements in ploughing technology which have meant that blades can be ran on the 
carriageway. 

4.4 Snow Clearance

During the low risk period, Balfour Beatty did not have available snow clearing plant when 
required.  This led to a number of roads in the borough taking longer to become passable to 
vehicular traffic than would be expected.

RBC did manage to co-ordinate assistance from local resources on a number of occasions to 
assist with snow clearance. RBC also co-ordinated with other local authorities to assist with 
winter operations.

4.5 Salt Bins

Due to the severity of the winter and the affect this had on labour pressure, the maintenance 
and management of the salt bin network was severely tested. RBC received over 100 
requests to refill individual salt bins from Council Members and Members of the public which 
placed further pressures on the service. Evidence suggests that Balfour Beatty had 
operational difficulties in maintaining the network of salt bins in line with the agreed policy. 

Whilst reactive refilling of salt bins was good, Rochdale Council will be undertaking a 
separate lessons learnt exercise to improve the process in the future.  

Page 12



Rochdale Council Winter Service Review
2017/18

www.rochdale.gov.uk 3

4.6 Operational Communications

Throughout the winter period and especially in times of severe weather, RBC highways 
implement an enhanced communication regime with senior management, members and 
other key stakeholders. 

The key messages contained included information around weather events, impacts on roads 
and the treatments RBC had requested to reduce risk to road users. 

These communications where sent out using a variety of different media and where positively 
received by the recipient. 

4.7 Forecasting 

On a number of occasions, the ICT systems Rochdale Council use to review weather station 
data and forecast information was unavailable. The main issue was caused by a fire at the 
Met Office HQ in which the backup system didn’t deploy as required. RBC staff using both 
local knowledge and training in weather systems where able to provide a continuous 
operational direction in the absence of these systems to ensure that compliance with the 
statutory obligations was met. 

4.8 Salt Usage

RBC commenced the winter period with a stock of 4500t and during the season we used 
4300t. 

We carried out over – 

130 Precautionary treatments on the full network

25 Snow treatments on the resilient network

13 Ad – hoc treatments on individual domains

10 Footway Treatments within Town centres

Salt supply is kept topped up throughout the period in line with department for transport 
recommendations and we ensure that there is always a minimum of 12 days resilience kept 
stored in the salt barn. 

4.9 Cost

The overall cost of the winter service for 2017/18 was £730k which was an overspend of 
£130k on the initial budget. 

One neighbouring authority with a similar network length to Rochdale used the following 
amounts of salt – 

Page 13



Rochdale Council Winter Service Review
2017/18

www.rochdale.gov.uk 4

Authority Salt Type Amount of Salt Cost of Salt
Rochdale Treated 4300t £194k
Oldham Untreated 7500t £285k

Rochdale have realised a potential saving of £91k by using treated salt compared to 
authorities that have used untreated. Some authorities within AGMA have overspent initial 
budgets in excess of £250k. 

Even though the end result of the winter service was an overspend, Highways have 
managed to limit the extent of this overspend which has reduced the potential financial risk of 
RBC. 

5. Health and Safety

There were no health and safety incidents that caused injury to any member of staff who 
carried out the winter service. 

6. Areas for improvement

Grit bin management
Ploughing
Availability of external resources and plant outside of the high risk period
Impact of the service on other contractual commitments e.g. pothole repairs
Availability of tracking data 
Calibration checks 

7. Conclusion

Whilst a challenging period, this review has concluded that the RBC winter plan did deliver 
the winter service policy objectives of the Council throughout the 2017/18 winter.  

Page 14



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee

Date of Meeting 27th September 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Environment
Report Author Andrew Storey
Public/Private Document Public

Highways/Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policies

Executive Summary

1.0

1.1

1.2

In October 2018 the ‘Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of 
Practice’ becomes operational. 

This document recommends that the Highways Safety Inspection Policy and 
Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy is reviewed and revised to 
reflect the risk based approach detailed in ‘Well Managed Highway 
Infrastructure: A Code of Practice.

Rochdale Council has to have these policies in place as they identify our 
inspection procedures and will provide part our defence in the event of a claim 
against us.

Recommendation

2.0

2.1

2.2

The Highway Inspection Policy and Highway Maintenance Inspectors Manual 
have been prepared and are included as appendices 1 and 2. 

The Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy has been prepared and 
is included as appendix 3 

It is recommended that both inspection policies are approved and adopted for 
implementation in October 2018.

Reason for Recommendation

3.0 Rochdale Borough Council has a statutory obligation to inspect their highway 
assets and these policies identify the processes and procedures that will be 
implemented to ensure such inspections take place in accordance with current 
recommendations.

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



Key Points for Consideration

4.0

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice’ recommends 
that these policies are reviewed to reflect the risk based approach to 
inspections.

The adoption of the proposed policies will ensure Rochdale Borough Council 
meet these requirements and by applying the procedures identified in the 
policies we will ensure we meet our obligations and help to prevent actionable 
claims against us.

The key change to how highway inspections are addressed, following the 
introduction of the new policy, will be in determining the response times for 
repairing an identified defect. Previously this was based upon specific 
guidance, however the new policy, in accordance with the recommendations 
of the ‘Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice’, will identify 
response times based upon a risk assessment undertaken by the inspectors. 
(Our inspectors have been fully trained in utilising the risk based assessment 
matrix included in Appendix 1) This will take into account all contributing 
factors in the likelihood of an event occurring and the consequence if such an 
event occurs. This generates a risk assessment score which highlights the 
speed in which a response is required.

The process in which a pothole is assessed to determine if it is defective 
remains the same.

Alternatives Considered
Continue with our existing inspection procedures which will not meet ‘The Well 
Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of practice’ recommendations’ 
potentially leaving the council at a higher risk of facing increased claims for 
accidents occurring on the highway.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.0

5.1

There are no additional costs associated with adopting the proposed policies

The policies address the way in which our inspectors identify the severity of a 
pot hole and what priority it is given. It should be noted that the policies will not 
have any effect on the current contract we have with Balfour Beatty.

Risk and Policy Implications

The Council has a duty under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
‘maintain highways maintainable at public expense’ and a duty to ensure so 
far as is possible safe passage along a highway.

6.0

6.1 These policies will ensure that The Council have a clear policy of inspection 

Page 16



6.2

regimes aimed at complying with Section 41 of the Highways Act.

By adopting the proposed policies we reduce the risk of The Council 
breaching the requirements of Section 41

Consultation

7.0 The Policies have undergone consultation with the Highways Portfolio 
Holder.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.0

8.1

8.2

Highway Inspection Policy 

Highway Maintenance Inspectors 
Manual

Bridges and highway Structures 
Inspection Policy

Provided as Appendix 1

Provided as Appendix 2

Provided as Appendix 3

For Further Information Contact: Andrew Storey, , 
andrew.storey@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 17



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

Page 18



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 1

 1 Contents

1 Contents………………………………………..Page 2 

2 Introduction…………………………………….Page 3

3 Overview………………………………………. Page 3

4 Types of Highway Inspections……………….Page 5

5 Hierarchy……………………………………….Page 6

6 Inspection Frequency…………………………Page 7

7 Highway Safety Inspections………………….Page 9

8 Defect Investigatory Levels…………………..Page 11

9 Repair Response Times……………………...Page 12

10 Defect Risk Assessment…………………….. Page 12

11 Enquiries………………………………………. Page 14

12 Training…………………………………………Page 15

Page 19



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 2

 
2 Introduction

Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 places a statutory duty on all Highway Authorities (HA) 
to maintain the highway network under their control.  For there to be a breach of section 41 
there must have been a failure to maintain or a failure to repair. 

All councils within the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) region in complying 
with this duty to maintain have collaborated to develop a Greater Manchester Highway 
Safety Inspection Framework document (GMHIF). Rochdale Borough Council will adopt and 
carry out highway safety inspections in accordance with the GMHIF, adapted for local 
circumstances, in order to provide a special defence by virtue of Section 58 of the Highways 
Act 1980 in an action against the Council for an alleged breach of Section 41.

Rochdale Borough Council need to prove that they have taken such care as in all the 
circumstances was reasonably required to secure that the part of the highway was not 
dangerous for traffic.  This is usually proved by the Council having a reasonable system of 
routine scheduled highway safety inspections in place, having regard to various factors set 
out within section 58 of the Highways Act 1980.

3 Overview

This policy document has been developed with the primary aim of providing direction to 
those officers involved in undertaking highways safety inspections, that they may carry out 
their duties with consistency and to clear recognised and understood criteria.

This document is Rochdale Borough Council`s Policy for Highway Safety Inspections and 
details how Rochdale Borough Council will comply with the practices set out in the GMHIF, in 
terms of network hierarchy, investigatory levels, frequency of inspection and response times 
to repair.

The GMHIF has been developed through a collaborative GMCA working group of officers 
who are directly involved at varying levels of responsibility in the function of highway 
maintenance, inspections, and claims management.  The new Code of Practice, Well-
managed Highway Infrastructure (WMHI), published on 28 October 2016 recommends.  ‘In 
the interest of route consistency for highway users, all authorities, including strategic, local, 
combined and those in alliances, are encouraged to collaborate in determining levels of 
service, especially across boundaries with neighbours responsible for strategic and local 
highway networks’.

The GMHIF and this policy document gives due regard to all Council highway duties and has 
adopted the guidance that reflects the recommendations from WMHI. The framework 
document is itemised on the agenda for the GMCA Highway Claims Benchmarking Group for 
the purpose of continual review and improvement.

WMHI recommends changing from reliance on specific guidance and recommendations in 
the previous codes to a risk-based approach determined by each Highway Authority . The 
council’s frequency of inspection and specific investigatory levels are based on the 
appropriate risk, functionality or usage of the highway. It further recommends adopting 

Page 20



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 3

standards set out in ISO 31000.   

ISO 31000 is a family of standards relating to risk management codified by the International 
Organization for Standardisation. The purpose of ISO 31000: 2009 is to provide principles 
and generic guidelines on risk management. 

Figure 1 shows an example risk management process, based on ISO 31000 

Figure 1

 

 
Figure 2 shows the relationship between the guidance documents, Codes of Practice and 
Frameworks used to help Rochdale Borough Council in developing this highway safety 
inspection policy. 

Page 21



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 4

Figure 2

4 Types of Highway Inspections

This policy document deals specifically with highway safety inspections and repairs.
The GMCA methodology is to undertake safety inspections as one process to enable 
inspectors to focus specifically on defects which if not repaired, are likely to become a 
potential danger to road users and pedestrians. 

Highway safety Inspections are derived from two main sources, these are;

• Planned cyclic safety inspections to identify potential dangers; and

• Ad hoc reactive safety inspections following enquiries in respect of the condition of 
the highway.

Records of cyclic safety inspections and reactive safety inspections following complaints are 
maintained on Confirm, a purpose designed computer database.

Well Managed 
Infrastructure Code of 
Practice October 2016

HMEP – Highway 
Infrastructure Asset 

Management 
Guidance May 2013

Greater Manchester 
Highway Safety 

Inspection Framework 
April 2018

ISO Series 
31000 Risk 

management

Rochdale Borough 
Council Highway 
Safety Inspection 

Policies

Rochdale Borough 
Council Highway 
Safety Inspection 

Manual

Page 22



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 5

 
5 Hierarchy

All the adopted highways have been assigned where appropriate a carriageway, footway and 
cycleway hierarchy in accordance with WMHI and the Greater Manchester Framework.

Table 1 below details examples of hierarchy determining factors to be considered when 
assigning network hierarchies.  Other factors may also be pertinent

Table 1

Road classification Strategic network, A,B,C, unclassified 
network

Traffic use Traffic flow data, footfall data

Characteristics of street Schools, shops, hospitals, areas of large 
employment located adjacent to the 
highway

Characteristics of adjoining network 
elements

Hierarchy of adjoining streets

Condition data Walked survey data, SCRIM, SCANNER, 
Structural Maintenance Visual 
Assessments (CVI or DVI), Defect 
numbers including minor repairs

Insurance claims data Claim statistics recorded on street, 
numbers and trends derived from claims

Wider policy or operational 
considerations.

Enquiries, complaints data

WMHI details the criteria for assigning categories within the hierarchy. Each adopted 
highway in Rochdale Borough Council has been assigned a category within the hierarchy, 
according to the descriptions given in WMHI, and its corresponding reference number for that 
category as listed in the GMHIF.

6 Inspection Frequency

The council’s frequency of inspections is based on the appropriate risk, functionality or usage 
of the highway and the subsequent hierarchy assigned.  The road category within the 
hierarchy, in combination with traffic use, is the main determinant of inspection frequency. 
Hierarchy reviews will be undertaken on a 5 year cycle and by competent staff on a group 
basis.

Page 23



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 6

Table 2 below shows the inspection hierarchy and frequency of inspections adopted by  
Rochdale Borough Council, although site specific factors may merit a decision to temporarily 
or permanently increase or reduce the frequency in a specific location (for example to 
mitigate the risk of unusually high defect levels or accident rates). These factors are normally 
remedied through service request inspections and defects rectified. 

Table 2

Feature Category Reference Frequency
Carriageways Strategic Route 2 1 month

Main Distributor 3(a) 1month

Secondary Distributor 3(b) 1month

Link Road 4(a) 3 months

Local Access Road

Minor Roads

4(b)

4(b)

1 year

1 year

Footways Prestige Walking Zones 1(a) 1 month

Primary Walking Routes 1 1 month

Secondary Walking 

Routes 2 3 months

Link Footways 3 6 months

Local Access Footways

Minor Footways 4
1 year

1 year

Cycle ways Part of Carriageway A As for Roads
Cycle Track, Shared 
Cycle/Footway – a route 
for cyclists not contiguous 
with the public footway or 
carriageway or a shared 
cycle/pedestrian path

B As for 
footway/Annually

Highways will be inspected in accordance with the frequencies listed in GMHIF, however 
where justified by risk assessment, highways may be inspected more or less frequently. 

Page 24



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 7

7 Highway Safety Inspections

Highway safety inspections are carried out to specified frequencies.  During the inspection, 
defects which are identified using the risk matrix criteria outlined within this policy are 
recorded and processed for repair.

It is recognised that it will not be always possible to inspect a highway at exactly the same 
time of each month that it is due for inspection, so some flexibility will be required regarding 
inspection dates. An inspection will be scheduled to be completed as close as possible to its 
due inspection date, taking into account weekends / bank holidays and periods of adverse 
weather and inspector availability (e.g. periods of leave). In these instances the tolerances 
for each inspection will be determined by the inspection frequency as shown below.

 
Inspection Frequency Tolerance

1 month ± 1 week (7 days)
3 months ± 2 weeks (14 days)
6 months ± 3 weeks (21 days)
1 year   ± 4 weeks (28 days)

 Inspection Methodology 

All footways will have a walked inspection at the assigned frequency determined by the 
hierarchy and risk assessment, and the carriageway will also be inspected during these 
walked inspections.

When, in accordance with the hierarchy, it is only the carriageway to be inspected, then the 
inspection can be by means of a driven or walked inspection.

Walked Highway Safety Inspections 

Before commencing any walked safety inspection, the inspector shall note the following 
information;

• The street name;
• Inspection frequency;
• Current date; and
• Weather conditions (Ground conditions)
•           Parked Vehicles

The inspector shall position themselves in a safe location on the footway, in such a position 
that it enables him/her to view the full width of the footway and carriageway to the centre line 
including the carriageway channel areas.

When the inspector encounters parked vehicles they shall take reasonable steps where 
appropriate so as to view the area obstructed by the vehicle. 

Page 25



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 8

The inspector shall proceed along the footway, identifying defects that meet the investigatory 
levels set out in Table 3. The inspector identifies defects and then undertakes a risk based 
approach on assessing the danger of the defect.

Any defect which falls at or outside these levels that the inspector identifies, would be 
assigned a score from Table 4 and then a response time from Table 5. On completing the 
inspection of one side of the street, the inspector shall apply the same process to the 
opposite side of the road. The results of the inspections will be recorded on the Mayrise 
database.

Driven Carriageway Safety Inspection

The purpose of these carriageway safety inspections is to identify defects that are likely to 
pose a risk or serious inconvenience to users of the network or the wider community and to 
arrange for their remedy.

Before commencing the Driven Safety Inspection, the inspector shall note the following 
information;

• The street name;
• Inspection frequency;
• Current date; and
• Weather conditions (Ground conditions)

Driven carriageway inspections shall be carried out utilising a driver (albeit more often than 
not they will be a trained highway inspector) and a highway inspector. The driver shall be 
responsible for driving and the highway inspector will be responsible for carrying out the 
safety inspection.

The Inspector shall have due regard to their personal safety and in particular from moving 
traffic either on the main highway or at junctions and crossings. On no account must he/she 
put himself/herself in any hazardous situation.
This relevant method statement must be read in conjunction with the Highways agency 
documents listed below, which are;

• Temporary Traffic Management on High Speed Roads good working practice;
• Guidance for safer Temporary Management workforce issues; and
• Guidance for crossing High Speed Roads on foot during temporary traffic                                                         
management works

All Inspectors carrying out driven carriageway safety inspections of high speed roads, will 
attend appropriate training.

Inspection Vehicle 

The inspection vehicle used for the driven highway safety inspections will be an appropriate 
vehicle for the task. The vehicle will be equipped with all the necessary livery, flashing 
beacons, advisory LED vehicle mounted display signage etc., so it can be driven safely at 
low speeds to facilitate a driven visual inspection of the highway having due regard to 

Page 26



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 9

minimising inconvenience to other road users. 

 
8 Defect Investigatory Levels

This section of the policy document sets out the investigatory levels and operational 
processes that are considered to be appropriate and  council responsibility, taking into 
account the safety of highway users.

Table 3 below lists the Defect Investigatory levels that would trigger the risk assessment 
using the matrix and intervention where appropriate.

Table 3

Footway  investigatory level 25mm

Carriageway Investigatory level 40mm

Carriageway investigatory level at 
pedestrian crossing points

25mm

Kerb defects 50mm or over displacement 
of a kerb

During inspections the inspector will look at defects which meet the following levels:

Footways

1) Primary Walking Routes        20-25mm
2) Secondary Walking Routes   20-25mm
3) Link Footway                         20-25mm
4) Local Access Footway          20-25mm

Where a gap between paving slabs exceeds 40mm

Carriageways

1)   Main Distributor                  35-40mm
2)   Secondary Distributor        35-40mm
3)   Link Road                           35-40mm
4)   Local Access Roads          35-40mm

Where the highway inspector considers there may be a risk that the defect found could 
escalate to the investigatory levels in Table 3. Intervention maybe considered subject to 
availability of both manpower and financial resources.  
Kerbs located at crossing points will be subject to the intervention levels outlined for 

Page 27



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 10

footways.

 
9 Repair Response Times

During safety inspections, all observed defects that provide a potential risk to users are 
recorded and the level of response determined on the basis of an on-site risk assessment.

This Policy defines defects in two categories, which are;

• Category 1 -2  those that require prompt attention because they represent an immediate 
hazard; and
• Category 3-5 - all other defects.

Category 1 and 2

These defects will be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if reasonably 
practicable. In this context, making safe may constitute displaying warning notices, coning-off 
or fencing-off to protect the public from the defect or other suitable action. If the inspection 
team cannot make safe the defect at the time of inspection then they will instigate the 
relevant emergency call procedures to ensure appropriate resources are mobilised to make 
the defect safe. These procedures aim to ensure initial attendance to the defect within 24 
hours of the defect being identified or within 1 hour where there is an immediate threat to life 
or limb.

Category 3-5 

These defects are those which are deemed not to represent an immediate hazard and which 
can be repaired within longer timescales. Category 3-5 defects are categorised according to 
priority with response times defined within Table 5.

10 Defect Risk Assessment

The principles of a system of defect risk assessment for application to safety inspections are 
set out below. Any item with a defect level which corresponds to, or is in excess of, the 
minimum investigatory level, is to be assessed using the risk assessment matrix in Table 4.

Risk Factor

The risk factor for a particular risk is calculated by; 

• Risk Factor = Likelihood score x Consequence score. 

It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently the 
appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect.

Having identified a particular risk, assessed its Likelihood and Consequence thus calculating 
the risk factor, the category and the timescale to rectify the defect is either defined as a 
Category 1-2 response, or allocated to one of the Category 3-5 defect types (Low, Medium or 

Page 28



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 11

High). 

Likelihood of Event Occurring 
This is the inspector’s assessment of the likelihood of the defect affecting the safe passage 
of vehicles along the highway, or affecting the structural integrity of the highway. It follows an 
assessment of the highway hierarchy and the location of the defect within the highway. 

Consequence of Event Occurring This is the impact/severity and is quantified by 
assessing the extent of damage likely to be caused should the risk be realised. The main 
consideration of impact/severity is the magnitude or dimension of the defect. However, other 
variables such as road speed may also affect the likely impact
The risk assessment matrix detailed below used by the Highway Inspectors during the 
course of their inspections.  The matrix will be used to determine the defect categorisation 
and response.

Table 4 – Risk Matrix (Taken from Institute of Highway Engineers)

Consequence of Event OccurringLikelihood 
of Event 
Occurring Negligible Low Medium High Severe

Negligible 1 2 3 4 5

Very Low 2 4 6 8 10

Low 3 6 9 12 15

Medium 4 8 12 16 20

High 5 10 15 20 25

Key to Risks
Low Medium High

Page 29



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 12

Priority Responses defined by colour

 Table 5

Priority Response 
(Calendar days)

1 2Hr
2 24Hr
3 7 Days
4 14 Days
5 28 Days
6 Considered For 

Planned 
Maintenance

6 Review At Next 
Inspection

Minimum Investigatory Levels 

It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist which do 
not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and for which it may be 
impractical and inefficient to expend limited resources to undertake repairs.  Any defects 
which do not meet the minimum investigatory levels can be recorded should the Inspector 
deem this appropriate using his discretion (for example, where a cluster of such defects may 
form a potential preventative maintenance scheme in the future). Where such defects are 
recorded, they will be recorded as an internal enquiry for consideration for planned 
maintenance.

11           Enquiries
 
Additional ad-hoc Safety Inspections of specific defects are carried out in response to reports 
or enquiries from members of the public and other road users. Each enquiry will be assessed 
on receipt and prioritised based upon the information given. Inspections will be undertaken In 
accordance with the assessed prioritisation up to a maximum of 10 working days from receipt 
of enquiry dependent upon volume of enquiries and availability of inspectors.

Risk factor
25
15 to 25
9 to 12
5 to 8
2 to 4
1

Page 30



Highway Safety Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 13

Each enquiry will be assessed on receipt and where from the information given it is deemed 
that a more urgent response is required, appropriate action will be taken. 

 
12 Training

All staff that are employed to undertake highway safety inspections will be trained to Highway 
Safety Inspection Qualification City and Guilds 6033 – Units 301 and 311 or similar approved 
LANTRA accreditation wherever possible. This qualification lasts 5-years and refresher 
training must be undertaken.

Any new highway inspector that is permanently employed but does not already hold the 
above qualification or accreditation will be enrolled on an approved Highway Safety 
Inspection course at the earliest practicable opportunity.

If an inspector is to be employed on a temporary contract, their competence will be assessed 
at interview by a qualified line manager / supervisor and where additional training needs are 
identified, in-house training will be provided before the inspector is allowed to undertake 
inspections.

Any new highway inspector will shadow a qualified colleague within the inspection team for a 
period of time prior to being allowed to undertake inspections alone, and then is subject to 
close monitoring and supervision.
Induction training will be undertaken for any new employees. 
The appropriate line manager / supervisor also undertakes regular follow-up checks in the 
way of on-site staff appraisals with each inspector.  
Each team member is provided with access to this policy document.
The highway inspectorate will hold regular team meetings to discuss issues in relation to the 
inspection process, therefore allowing it to be continually reviewed.

Make up of training to include;

• Manager Introduction & Briefing;
• Work shadowing;
• Highway related training modules contained within the City & Guilds training scheme;   
•           Units 301 and 311 or LANTRA approved training.
• On-site staff appraisals/work monitoring (line supervisor);
• Regular team meetings;
• Staff Development Reviews (Annually);
• Any other external courses of relevance to post; and
• Documents relating to relevant Codes of Practice  

Page 31



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

1
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE

Inspection Manual

2018

Page 32



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

2
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

Content
Section: Page(s):

1. Introduction 3–5

2. Resources and Budgets 5

3. Methodology for Inspections 6

4. Footway Hierarchy 7–8

5. Carriageway Hierarchy 8–10

6. Frequency of Inspections                                         10-11

7. Scope of Inspections                                                11-12

8. Location of Defects                                                   12–13

9. Categorising Defects 13–16

10. Intervention Levels 17–20

Version control
V1

Page 33



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

3
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 This manual has been developed with the primary aim of providing consistency 
and clear recognised and understood criteria. The standards laid out in the manual 
are communal standards across Greater Manchester and contained in the 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) Framework for Highway 
Safety Inspections 2018. 

1.2 Under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 Rochdale Borough Council has a 
statutory duty to maintain a public highway in a safe manner for all users. Neglecting 
this duty can lead to claims against the Council for damages resulting from a failure to 
maintain the highway.

 Under Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980, the highway authority can use a special 
defence in respect of action against it for damages for non-repair of the highway if it can 
prove that it has taken such care as was reasonable. Part of the defence rests upon: 

“Whether the highway authority knew, or could have reasonably expected to know, that 
the condition of the part of the highway to which the action relates was likely to cause 
danger to users of the highway” 

This is where highway authorities have to show that they carry out highway inspections 
in accordance with their policies and national guidance. Highway inspection reports are 
part of the evidence used to show that the highway authority has acted reasonably. 

Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 also says: 

“The court shall in particular have regard to
i. The character of the highway and the traffic which was reasonably expected to use it; 
ii. The standard of maintenance appropriate for a highway of that character and used by 
such traffic; 
iii. The state of repair in which a reasonable person would have expected to find the 
highway.” 

The highway authority must also record all customer reports of highway defects, 
however not all defects which the authority becomes aware of by inspection or customer 
report need to be repaired. Records from the Mayrise Highway Management System 
are used in evidence to show that the authority has acted reasonably. 

Mayrise provides a single database for recording and tracking customer enquiries, 
inspection records, defect records, works ordering and asset inventory.

Page 34



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

4
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

1.3 This Highway Inspection Manual has been developed to demonstrate how the
Council is complying with the 2016 edition of “Well-managed Highway 
Infrastructure Code of Practice” 
This code of practice has been overseen by the UK Roads Board and Roads 
Liaison Group and is supported by the ten Local Authorities of Greater 
Manchester.

1.4 The Manual sets out the operational processes that are considered to be
appropriate to ensure that officers involved in the undertaking highway
Inspections carry out their duties consistently and to clear, recognisable and
understood criteria. All defects being assessed using a consistent matrix.

1.5 Rochdale Borough Council Highway Safety Inspection Policy provides guidance     
on the two types of inspection:-

:-

a) Planned cyclic safety inspections
b) Service Inspections

1.6 Inspections are undertaken either as part of a planned programme of cyclic
highway inspections to identify potential dangers or as reactive inspections
following service requests, from various sources, in respect of the condition of
the highway or other matters.

1.7 The Manual sets out the system investigatory levels and the methods of
Implementing the subsequent repairs taking into account the safety of highway
users and the restraints placed upon the Council to manage public funds
within defined budgets.

1.8 Defects found during highway inspections which are at or exceed the
Investigatory levels are recorded and assessed for repair.

1.9 All staff have annual development interviews at which training needs are          
identified. All staff that are employed to undertake highway safety inspections will              
be trained to Highway Safety Inspection Qualification City and Guilds 6033 – Units 301 
and 311 or similar approved LANTRA accreditation wherever possible. This qualification 
lasts 5-years and refresher training must be undertaken. Any new highway inspector 
that is permanently employed but does not already hold the above qualification or 
accreditation will be enrolled on an approved Highway Safety Inspection course at the 
earliest practicable opportunity.

All inspectors are also encouraged to gain nationally recognised
Qualifications, e.g. NRSWA Supervisors Course to both broaden the range of 
skills and allow flexibility to undertake other roles.

Page 35



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

5
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

Staff who are employed to undertake inspections are briefed by experienced 
qualified Highways Inspectors and spend time shadowing colleagues in the 
inspection team prior to undertaking inspections alone. Each team member is 
provided with a copy of the Manual as guidance to their work.

1.10 Senior Highway staff undertake quality checks on each inspector’s
Compliance with policy by carrying out checks on the works ordered on a sample 
of jobs ordered and the results are analysed for compliance.

2. RESOURCES AND BUDGETS

2.1 To deliver on its ‘duty of care’ to users of the highway, the Council provides
financial and operational resources. This allows operations to be carried out
in both a planned and reactive manner in maintaining its highway in a safe
condition.

2.2 Each year the Council determines the allocation of its financial resources with
due consideration to its strategic aims and priorities. The Council has set
aside an element of the budget specifically for undertaking urgent repairs
identified during inspections. In addition funding is available for planned
works.

2.3 Budgets are also allocated to provide identified training needs.

2.4 To undertake its cyclic highway inspections the Council has provided a
number of Inspectors and other staff with full support and line management.
This team works closely with both the Highway Claims Section and its
Highway Maintenance Contractors.

Page 36



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

6
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

3. METHODOLOGY FOR INSPECTIONS

3.1 All Highway inspections are undertaken either on foot or from a slow moving
vehicle with a hazard flashing beacon. Inspectors shall ensure that they are
wearing the appropriate personal protective equipment personal protective
equipment and have a means of communication with the office.

3.2 Highway Inspections shall be undertaken in accordance with the annual
programme for inspections. The Highway Maintenance Section is responsible for
recording the progress of inspections against the programme.

3.3 When highway inspections are undertaken details of the inspection are
recorded. Any works requiring urgent attention are communicated to the 
back office and the Contractor. Work requirements are recorded on the electronic 
works management system and issued to the Highway Maintenance Contractor.

Page 37



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

7
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

4. FOOTWAY HIERACHY

4.1 The term footway is used for segregated surfaced facilities used by
pedestrians.

4.2 (i) Primary Walking Route – busy urban shopping and business areas 
and main pedestrian routes linking interchanges between different modes of
transport, such as railways and bus stops, etc.

(ii) Secondary Walking Route – medium usage routes through local areas
feeding into primary routes, local shopping centres, large schools and
Industrial centres, etc.

(iii) Link Footway – linking local access footways through urban areas and
busy rural footways

(iv) Local Access Footway – footways associated with low usage, short estate
roads leading to the main routes and cul-de-sac.

Primary Walking Route

Page 38



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

8
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

4.3 Lists of footway hierarchy are held by Rochdale Borough Council. 

4.4 Plans depicting the various category of footway are available for inspection at
Highway and Engineering Service No 1 Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale
OL16 1XU.

5. CARRIAGEWAY HIERACHY

5.1 The term ‘carriageway’ is used for facilities used by motor vehicles

5.2 (i) Main Distributor- Routes between strategic routes and linking urban
centres to the strategic network with limited frontage access. In urban areas
speed limits are usually 40 mph or less, parking is restricted at peak times and
there are positive measures for pedestrian safety.

Main Distributor Routes

Page 39



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

9
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

(ii) Secondary Distributor- In rural areas these roads link the larger
villages and HGV generators to the strategic and main distributor network.
In built up areas these roads have 30 mph speed limits and very high levels
of pedestrian activity with some crossing facilities including zebra crossings.
On street parking is generally unrestricted except for safety reasons.

Secondary Distributor Road

(iii) Link Road – In rural areas these roads link the smaller villages to the
distributor roads. They are of varying width and not always capable of
carrying two-way traffic. In urban areas they are residential or industrial
Inter-connecting roads with 30 mph speed, random pedestrian movement
and uncontrolled parking.

Link Road

(iv) Local Access Road – In rural areas these roads serve small settlements
and provide access to individual properties and land. They are often single
lane width and unsuitable for HGV’s, in residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs.

5.3 List of carriageway hierarchy is held by Rochdale Borough Council. The list is 
reviewed in line with Rochdale Council Highway Inspection Policy.

Page 40



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

10
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

5.4 Plans depicting the various category of carriageway are available for
inspection at Highway and Engineering Service, No 1 Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale OL16 1XU

6. FREQUENCY OF INSPECTIONS

6.1 The inspection frequencies for carriageways and footways are:

Feature Category Reference Frequency

Carriageways Strategic Route 2 1 month

Main Distributor 3(a) 1month

Secondary Distributor 3(b) 1month

Link Road 4(a) 3 months

Local Access Road

Minor Roads

4(b)

4(b)

1 year

1 year

Footways Prestige Walking Zones 1(a) 1 month

Primary Walking Routes 1 1 month

Secondary Walking 

Routes
2 3 months

Link Footways 3 6 months

Local Access Footways

Minor Footways
4

1 year

1 year

Cycle ways Part of Carriageway A As for Roads
Cycle Track, Shared 
Cycle/Footway – a route 
for cyclists not 
contiguous with the 
public footway or 
carriageway or a shared 
cycle/pedestrian path

B
As for 
footway/Annually

During driven inspections any inaccessible areas, e.g. subways, will be walked

Page 41



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

11
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

6.2 Cycleways alongside or shared with footways will be inspected at the same
frequency as the adjacent footway.

6.3 Cycleways within carriageways will be inspected at the same frequency as
that carriageway.

7. SCOPE OF INSPECTIONS

7.1 This scope of an highway inspection shall include:

 Footway paving  Statutory undertakers 
apparatus(e.g. Valve boxes)

 Carriageway paving  Street furniture
 Highway verge  Highway drainage
 Kerbs
 Cycleways (within the 

highway)

Page 42



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

12
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

Defective Footways

8. LOCATION OF DEFECTS

8.1 To ensure defects are effectively located and actioned the following
Information is required as a minimum:-

 Location along the street
 The position of the defect on the highway
 The type of defect

8.2 Location on the street shall be provided by using the most appropriate or a
Combination of the following:

 House number
 Street lighting column number
 Building name
 Road junction
 GPS reference number
 Where possible defects will be marked with temporary road marking paint

Page 43



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

13
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

8.3 The position of the defect on the highway is essential to ensure the repair
team locate the defect that needs attention. The following are examples of
location descriptions

 C/Way in Front of House No
 At rear of footway House No or Street Light No
 Location Given on Map Electronically
 Specific Feature Eg Street Sign
 On verge or central reservation
 On vehicle access crossing

8.4 This list is by no means exhaustive. However, by using combinations of these
and similar terms it is possible to give simple but clear instructions which will
help the recording and the inputting of the location of the defect for the repair
team to use, locate and repair the defect sending back the completed order .

8.5 When describing a defect it will be necessary to refer to the particular
materials which are required to repair the defect. In some cases the repair
may require several materials and these will all need to be covered in the
description.

Example:-

Outside 19 - pothole near centre line of Bitmac carriageway 0.3m², 2 no.
Sunken PCC. kerbs, one needs replacing, 2m² of cracked PCC. Flags to be
replaced by Bitmac.

9. CATEGORISING DEFECTS

The priority relates directly to the degree of danger presented by a defect in
consideration with the defect location.

9.1 Defects identified during inspections are generally categorised as repairs
which fall into 6 categories and each defect noted should be given one of the
following priorities:-

Priority Response 
(Calendar days)

1 2Hr
2 24Hr
3 7 Days
4 14 Days
5 28 Days
6 Considered For 

Planned 
Maintenance

6 Review At Next 
Inspection

Page 44



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

14
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

9.2 Defects not under the ownership of the Council may be identified during 
inspections. These defects which are not the responsibility of the Council to repair 
will be where possible referred to the owner for repair. The Council does however 
have discretionary powers to ensure that the party responsible for the repair are 
made aware of the defect and if necessary may take interim action to make a defect 
temporarily safe and/or recover costs incurred.

Examples of such a defect are:
Missing cellar grates on properties.
Illegal Vehicle access crossings.

Illegal Vehicle Access Crossings

9.3 Statutory Undertakers
For defective apparatus belonging to Utility Companies the inspector shall
record the defect and contact the Company in line with the procedure agreed
by North West Highway Authorities and Utility Companies. The inspector shall 
report the defect to the relevant utility company requesting they action the 
defect.

Page 45



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

15
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

                                                                                  Missing Utility Cover

9.4 Defective Reinstatements

When an inspector identifies a defective reinstatement belong to a Utility
Company, this must be recorded and reported to the Company
concerned. The information will be passed to that Company by serving them
with a defect notice requiring them to take remedial action.

Defective Reinstatement

9.5 Unknown Parties 

Page 46



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

16
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

Any defect identified where the owner is unknown shall be recorded and
action taken to make safe the defect. Investigations shall be undertaken to
locate the responsible party and where possible recover costs incurred.

Page 47



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

17
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

10. INTERVENTION LEVELS

This section of the manual sets out the investigatory levels and operational processes that 
are considered to be appropriate and council responsibility, taking into account the safety of 
highway users.

Table A below lists the Defect Investigatory levels that would trigger the risk assessment 
using the matrix and intervention where appropriate.

Table A

Footway  investigatory level 25mm

Carriageway Investigatory level 40mm

Carriageway investigatory level at 
pedestrian crossing points

25mm

Kerb defects 50mm or over displacement 
of a kerb

10.1 During inspections the inspector will look at defects which meet the following levels:

Footways

1) Primary Walking Routes        20-25mm
2) Secondary Walking Routes   20-25mm
3) Link Footway                         20-25mm
4) Local Access Footway          20-25mm

25mm

(Investigatory Level is 25mm or greater)  Displaced Rocking/Paving Slabs

Page 48



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

18
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

                                                       40mm

Where a gap between paving slabs exceeds 40mm

                                                            600mm

                                                               25mm

Footway (Bituminous) – Change in profile greater than 25mm and extending in plan 
direction less than 600mm or a sudden change of greater than 25mm

10.2 Carriageways

1)   Main Distributor                  35-40mm
2)   Secondary Distributor        35-40mm
3)   Link Road                           35-40mm
4)   Local Access Roads          35-40mm

                                                            600mm

                                                               40mm

Carriageway (Bituminous or Concrete) – Change in profile greater then 40mm and extending in plan 
direction less than 600mm

                                                                      40mm

                                                                    300mm

Carriageway (Bituminous or Concrete) – A depression (pothole) of 40mm or greater in depth and 
extending in any one direction greater than 300mm

Page 49



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

19
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

Where the highway inspector considers there may be a risk that the defect found could 
escalate to the investigatory levels in Table A. Intervention maybe considered subject to 
availability of both manpower and financial resources.  Kerbs located at crossing points will 
be subject to the intervention levels outlined for footways.

10.3 During inspections, all identifiable actionable defects that provide for any
degree of risk to users should be recorded. In determining the response time 
or response the Inspector will take account of particular circumstances e.g. the 
degree of risk from a pot hole depends not merely upon the depth but also its 
surface area and location.

Where the line of a footway along a street is interrupted by a side street or
other road crossing then the criteria of repair for the kerbs at crossing points 
and carriageway surface, in the line of crossing, shall be the same as if it was 
a footway i.e. 25mm.

10.4 When assessing the condition of a kerb(s) in busy shopping areas or at
defined pedestrian crossing points the criteria for repairing the kerb(s) will be
affected by its location and the Inspector will take account the policy and risk 
matrix which are used as a guide for ordering repairs:

Page 50



Highway Maintenance
___________________________________________________________

20
Version: V1
Date of Issue: 12/05/2018

                                                              50mm

Intervention Levels Kerbs

10.5 The condition of the kerb(s) at other sites which are not subject to significant
pedestrian usage means that the criteria for repair may exceed the limit as
illustrated above. The Inspector will take account of the risk matrix and 
illustrations above which are used as a guide for not ordering repairs using the 
risk matrix outlined in the policy:

Page 51



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection 
Policy
2018/19

Page 52



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 1

 1 Contents

1 Contents Page 1 

2 Introduction . Page 2

3 Overview Page 2

4 Types of Bridges and Highway Structures Inspections Page 2

5 Highway Structures For Inspection Page 3

6 Inspection Frequency Page 4

7 Inspection Methodology Page 4

8 Inspection Results Page 6

Page 53



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 2

 
2 Introduction

The Highways Act 1980 places a statutory duty on all Highway Authorities (HA) to maintain 
the Public Highway ensuring that it is safe to use and fit for purpose. Section 41 of The 
Highways Act imposes a duty to maintain highways that are maintainable at public expense. 
Section 328(2) of the Highways Act vests a bridge or highway structure as part of the 
highway and the normal duty to maintain under Section 41 of the 1980 Act applies. 

Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) Bridges and Highway Structures Service will comply with 
this duty by following the guidelines provided by ‘Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A 
Code of Practice’ (WMHI). Rochdale Borough Council will adopt and carry out Bridges and 
Highway Structures inspection regimes in order to ensure the highway structures for which 
RBC are responsible are regularly inspected to ensure they remain in a safe state for use 
and fit for purpose. The results of these inspections will be used to identify future works 
programmes and maintenance regimes including emergency repairs if required. 

3 Overview

This policy document has been developed with the primary aim of providing direction to 
those officers involved in undertaking bridges and highway structures inspections, that they 
may carry out their duties with consistency and to clear recognised and understood criteria.

This document is Rochdale Borough Council`s Policy for Bridges and Highway Structures 
Inspections, including identifying the general inspection regime, principal inspection regime 
and instances in which other defined inspections will be necessary. The document will also 
identify the definition of a highway structure in accordance with WMHI.

WMHI recommends adopting a risk based approach to the bridges and highway structures 
inspection regimes. The council’s frequency of inspection will be identified within this policy.   

4 Types of Bridges and Highway Structures inspections

This policy document deals specifically with bridges and highway structures inspections.

WMHI identifies a number of different types of inspection applicable to highway structures. 
These are;

• General Inspections: A visual inspection of all accessible parts of the structure.

• Principal Inspections: A close examination within touching distance of all accessible 
parts of the structure including where relevant underwater elements and adjacent 
earthworks and waterways.

• Special Inspections: An inspection concentrating on specific elements of a structure.

• Safety Inspections: An inspection that is undertaken following a report indicating a 

Page 54



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 3

structure is damaged and may be unsafe.

• Acceptance Inspections: An inspection of a structure which is due to be passed into 
RBC ownership.

Details of all types of inspections are recorded in accordance with The Inspection Manual for 
Highway Structures (Volumes 1 and 2): May 2007 and are maintained on PONTIS, a cloud 
based Bridge Management System (BMS). 

 
5 Highway Structures For Inspection

WMHI identifies the following as highways structures which are subjected to the inspection 
regime addressed by this policy. (Table 1)

Table 1

Bridges

(Including footbridges/subways and 
underpasses)

A structure with a span of 1.5m or more 
crossing an obstacle such as a 
watercourse, railway, road or valley.

Culverts A drainage structure with a span of 1.5m 
or more passing beneath a highway 
embankment.

Retaining Walls A wall with the dominant function to act 
as a retaining structure either supporting 
the highway or supporting an 
embankment adjacent to the highway 
with a minimum retained height of 1.35m 

Cattle Grids A cattle grid with a span of 1.5m or more 
located on the public highway.

Road Tunnel A tunnel with an enclosed length of 150m 
or more through which a road passes

Sign/signal gantry A structure spanning the highway with a 
primary function to support traffic signs 
and signalling equipment.

Page 55



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 4

6 Inspection Frequency

The council’s frequency of inspections is based on the appropriate risk, functionality or usage 
of the structure.

Table 2 below shows the inspection types and frequency adopted by Rochdale Borough 
Council.

Table 2

Inspection Type Structure Type Frequency
General All in Table 1 1 every 2 years

Principal Bridges 1 every 6 years *

Culverts 1 every 6 years *

Special

All in Table 1 As required following 

a general or principal 

inspection

Safety

All in Table 1 Within a maximum of 

10 days of receiving 

the report

Acceptance All in Table 1 As required

* Risk assessments will be completed for each structure subject to a principal inspection and 
if this identifies an inspection period other than 1 every 6 years the new inspection period will 
be recorded on the BMS

7 Inspection Methodology

 General inspections: are carried out once every two years on all RBC highway 
structures. These comprise visual inspections of the structure without the need for 
special access or traffic management. The inspection will be undertaken in 
accordance with The Inspection Manual for Highway Structures (Volumes 1 and 2): 
May 2007 and CSS Bridge Condition Indicators Volume 2: Guidance Note on Bridge 
Inspection Reporting. Each element of the structure will be inspected and its condition 
recorded.

 Principal inspections: are carried out once every six years on all RBC bridges and 
culverts unless noted otherwise on PONTIS as a result of a specific risk assessment 
for that structure. These inspections are undertaken as above, but also include 
touching inspections of all elements of the structure utilising suitable access and 
traffic management needs as necessary. The principal inspection will identify the 
condition of each element and also determine if there is a requirement for a special 

Page 56



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 5

inspection to be undertaken.

 Special inspections: are inspections aimed at specific elements of the structure. A 
special inspection can be required :-

o Following either a general or principal inspection that has identified a 
particular problem with the structure. 

o On particular structural forms such as cast iron structures or post tensioned 
structures

o On structures with restricted loading allowances
o On structures that have to carry abnormally high loads
o Following a road traffic accident impacting the structure
o Following flooding or high river flows 

 The outcome of the special inspection will identify if any remedial work is required on 
the particular element being inspected or if further testing of the element is necessary 
to establish its capacity

 Safety inspections: are inspections that are undertaken in response to information 
being received identifying the structure as being damaged or unsafe. This can be 
following receipt of a service request provided by members of the public, Councillors 
or other RBC officers. 

 The safety inspection will identify the extent of any damage and whether any 
immediate safety precautions are required. 

 Acceptance inspections: are inspections that are undertaken when the ownership 
of the structure is due to change. The inspection will be in accordance with the 
process for general inspections and will identify any defects, developing problems or 
outstanding work that needs to be addressed prior to the structure being handed 
over.

Page 57



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 6

 
8 Inspection Results

The general and principal inspection process generates a bridge inspection report that 
records the condition of each element of the structure inspected based upon the severity of 
the defect and its extent. The condition ratings are converted into two overall condition 
indicators which represent the critical elements of the structure only and the other which 
represents the average condition of the structure based upon all of the inspected elements.

The condition indicators and assessment results are used as a primary source for identifying 

Page 58



Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policy
2018/19

www.rochdale.gov.uk 7

future works programmes.

Page 59


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 2017/18 Winter Service Review
	Append. 1 for 2017/18 Winter Service Review

	8 Highways-Bridges and Highway Structures Inspection Policies
	Append. 1 for HighwaysBridge
	Append. 2 for HighwaysBridges
	Append. 3 for HighwaysBridges


